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 Defendants, by and through their counsel of record and pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure 12(b)(6), and 8(a), and in accordance with D.U. Civ. R. 7-1, respectfully submit the 

following Partial Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint and Supporting Memorandum.   

  

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 1 of 37

mailto:rparr@utah.gov
mailto:dgoff@utah.gov
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/N96C8CD1043A111DC8D9EC9ECEEDEF2EE/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/N96C8CD1043A111DC8D9EC9ECEEDEF2EE/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0


ii 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

RELIEF SOUGHT AND GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ........................................................ vi 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................ vii 

PRELIMINARY FACTUAL STATEMENT .............................................................................. viii 

The Parties ...............................................................................................................................viii 

Procedural Background ............................................................................................................. ix 

Factual Background.................................................................................................................... x 

The November Classroom Incident.......................................................................................... xii 

The University Terminates Plaintiff’s Employment ...............................................................xiii 

The Criminal Investigation and Prosecution ........................................................................... xiv 

ARGUMENT .................................................................................................................................. 1 

I. THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO MEET SECTION 1983 PLEADING 

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE FIRST AMENDMENT AND CONSPIRACY CLAIMS 

AS TO CERTAIN DEFENDANTS ............................................................................... 1 

A. Plaintiff Has Failed to Allege an Affirmative Link Between Carter, Durham, 

Isaacson, Johnson, Morris, and Reid And Alleged Violation of the First 

Amendment .............................................................................................................. 2 

B. Plaintiff Has Failed To Meet The Pleading Requirements of a § 1983 Conspiracy 

Claim Against Defendants Johnson, Durham and Carter ......................................... 3 

1. Defendant Johnson ................................................................................................... 4 

2. Defendant Durham ................................................................................................... 4 

3. Defendant Carter ...................................................................................................... 5 

II. DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY ON PLAINTIFF’S 

FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT CLAIMS .............................................. 6 

A. Count II - Based on Alleged Violation of Procedural Due Process Fails ................. 7 

B. Plaintiff’s Allegations Do Not State A Liberty Interest Claim Against Defendants 

Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis, or Durham .................................................................... 8 

1. Defendant Beatty .................................................................................................... 11 

2. Defendant Christensen ........................................................................................... 11 

3. Defendant Durham ................................................................................................. 11 

4. Defendant Jarvis ..................................................................................................... 12 

C. Plaintiff’s Allegations Do Not State a Claim for First Amendment Retaliation .... 12 

1. The Complaint’s Allegations Fail the Garcetti/Pickering Test .............................. 13 

a. Plaintiff’s conduct occurred as part of his official duties. ............................... 15 

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 2 of 37



iii 

 

b. Plaintiff’s conduct was not a matter of public concern ................................... 16 

c. No substantial or motivating factor in adverse employment action. ............... 18 

2. Academic Freedom ................................................................................................. 19 

CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................................. 20 

  

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 3 of 37



iv 

 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

 

Cases 

Asbill v. Housing Authority of the Choctaw Nation of Oklahoma, 726 F.2d 1499 (1984) ....10 

Bd. of Comm'rs, Wabaunsee Cty. v. Umbehr, 518 U.S. 668 (1996) ......................................14 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) ...........................................................3 

Bishop v. Aronov, 926 F.2d 1066 (11th Cir. 1991) ................................................................20 

Bishop v. Wood, 426 U.S. 341 (1976)....................................................................................10 

Borden v. Sch. Dist. of Twp. of E. Brunswick, 523 F.3d 153 (3d Cir. 2008) .........................19 

Bunger v. Univ. of Oklahoma Bd. of Regents, 95 F.3d 987 (10th Cir. 1996) ........................17 

Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985) .................................................10 

Colburn v. Upper Darby Township, 838 F.2d 663 (3rd Cir. 1987) .......................................2 

Coleman v. Utah State Charter School Bd., 2016 WL 7321198 ...........................................9, 10 

Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138 (1983) ...........................................................................13, 16, 17 

Couch v. Bd. of Trustees of Mem'l Hosp., 587 F.3d 1223 (10th Cir. 2009) ...................... 3, 14, 15 

Custodio v. Parker, 65 F.3d 178, 1995 WL 523123 (10th Cir.1995) ....................................11 

Dill v. City of Edmond, 155 F.3d 1193 (10th Cir.1998) ........................................................13, 14 

Dixon v. Kirkpatrick, 553 F.3d 1294 (10th Cir. 2009) ..........................................................14, 15 

Dodds v. Richardson, 614 F. 3d 1185 (10th Cir. 2010) .........................................................6 

Doyle v. Okla. Bar Ass’n, 998 F.2d 1559 (10th Cir. 1993) ...................................................7 

Dunn v. White, 880 F.2d 1188 (10th Cir. 1989) ....................................................................2 

Evers v. Regents of Univ. of Colo., 509 F.3d 1304 (10th Cir. 2007) .....................................9 

Foote v. Spiegel, 118 F.3d 1416 (10th Cir. 1997)..................................................................2 

Gallagher v. Shelton, 587 F.3d 1063 (10th Cir. 2009) ..........................................................3 

Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410 (2006) ............................................................................14, 15 

Gomes v. Wood, 451 F.3d 1122 (10th Cir. 2006) ..................................................................6 

Green v. Board of County Comm'rs, 472 F.3d 794 (10th Cir. 2007) .....................................15 

Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800 (1982) ...........................................................................6 

Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc. v. Greenberg, 447 F.2d 872 (7th Cir. 1971) ....................................4 

Hook v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 394 F. Appx.  522 (10th Cir. 2010) ..................................2, 15 

Hunt v. Bennet, 17 F.3d 1263 (10th Cir. 1994)......................................................................3 

Johnson-Kurek v. Abu-Absi, 423 F.3d 590 (6th Cir. 2005) ...................................................20 

Jojola v. Chavez, 55 F.3d 488 (10th Cir. 1995) .....................................................................1 

Lauck v. Campbell Cty, 627 F.3d 805 (10th Cir. 2010) .........................................................14, 15 

McCarty v. City of Bartlesville, 8 Fed. Appx. 867, 2001 WL 246196 (10th Cir. 2001) .......12 

McDonald v. Wise, 769 F.3d 1202 (10th Cir. 2014) ..............................................................9 

Melton v. City of Oklahoma, 928 F.2d 920 (10th Cir. 1991) .................................................10 

P.J. ex rel. Jensen v. Wagner, 603 F.3d 1182 (2010) ............................................................7 

Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693 (1976) .......................................................................................9 

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223 (2009) ............................................................................6 

Pickering v. Bd. of Educ., 391 U.S. 563 (1968) .....................................................................14 

Renaud v. Wyo. Dep't of Family Servs., 203 F.3d 723 (10th Cir. 2000) ................................9 

Richardson v. McKnight, 521 U.S. 399 (1997) ......................................................................6 

Rohrbough v. University of Colo. Hosp. Auth., 596 F.3d 741 (10th Cir. 2010) ....................15 

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 4 of 37

https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ic6c3463f944911d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I38fd7a0e9c4611d991d0cc6b54f12d4d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib53eb62e07a011dcb035bac3a32ef289/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iebd9ef61968711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1791a3559c1f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Idc2e49df0b1611dd9876f446780b7bdc/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I434ace34934611d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Id4c3d9d09c1d11d991d0cc6b54f12d4d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iaa32afd1956e11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia716f5d0c40111e6ac07a76176915fee/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_999_8%2c+10
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1d1a06e29c9711d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ie3e6418ed3ab11de8bf6cd8525c41437/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Icceea60c919f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I463f28fb944c11d9a707f4371c9c34f0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I777da705ddb711ddb6a3a099756c05b7/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia90ad3e6a15711dfa765bd122ea7dc89/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1fc058b596fa11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I9378fc30971411d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I601ee7f8a9c211dc9876f446780b7bdc/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I626318f2942611d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Idde6b5e3d94c11de8bf6cd8525c41437/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I9c9379a3ed7811daa223cd6b838f54f9/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I9e7a4f52061411dba2529ff4f933adbe/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I6a0da76e9a8111db9127cf4cfcf88547/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia09f6e839c9a11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I88b7c4848fce11d98e8fb00d6c6a02dd/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1c558ab5bef411df8228ac372eb82649/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I4d647153970111d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I94eee3c3244811da974abd26ac2a6030/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iabac6ef4918611d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/If0c4a17306cf11e080558336ea473530/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Id4a9572c79a611d9ac1ffa9f33b6c3b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Idf82ca7d5ecb11e4b86bd602cb8781fa/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iebcc33c7968711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I47959bab587111dfa7ada84b8dc24cbf/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1791ca649c1f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I553af8cae7c311ddb7e683ba170699a5/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I179944619c1f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I5c38e3b6795a11d98c82a53fc8ac8757/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I6b259b5e9c2511d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I254568d61d4c11dfa7e0c40c26bf1b92/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0


v 

 

Rumsfeld v. Forum for Academic & Institutional Rights, Inc., 547 U.S. 47 (2006) ..............17 

Russillo v. Scarborough, 935 F.2d 1167 (10th Cir. 1991) .....................................................10 

San Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 77 (2004) ...................................................................................17 

Schrier v. Univ. Of Co., 427 F.3d 1253 (10th Cir. 2005) ......................................................19 

Snell v. Tunnell, 920 F.2d 673 (10th Cir. 1990) ....................................................................4 

Sweezy v. New Hampshire, 354 U.S. 234 (1957)...................................................................20 

Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397 (1989) .................................................................................17 

Thomas v. City of Blanchard, 548 F.3d 1317 (10th Cir. 2008) .............................................15 

Thompson v. City of Lawrence, Kan., 58 F.3d 1511 (1995) ..................................................3 

Tonkovich v. Kansas Bd. of Regents, 159 F.3d 504 (1998) ...................................................3 

United States v. Vaziri, 164 F.3d 556 (10th Cir. 1999) .........................................................8 

Urofsky v. Gilmore, 216 F.3d 401 (4th Cir. 2000) .................................................................20 

Workman v. Jordan, 32 F.3d 475 (10th Cir.1994) .................................................................9 

Worrell v. Henry, 219 F.3d 1197 (10th Cir. 2000) ................................................................14 

Zinermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113 (1990) ...............................................................................7 

 

Statutes 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 ....................................................................................................................Passim 

 

Rules 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).............................................................................i 

  

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 5 of 37

https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I2ac5d716ad1811daa20eccddde63d628/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib3cf4c9294bc11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I70f330409c9b11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I622d61bb4a3e11daaea49302b5f61a35/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I50e0e6b6972911d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I0a3df83a9bf011d991d0cc6b54f12d4d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ic1e7dbf09c1e11d991d0cc6b54f12d4d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I56a94bf0c05d11ddb5cbad29a280d47c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I6742fa14918911d98e8fb00d6c6a02dd/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I8db1dadd947811d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia0a84501947f11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Idcb15cd6798611d9bf29e2067ad74e5b/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iaaa653e1970811d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I6cd921b3798911d99c4dbb2f0352441d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib5a9d2289a1011d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/N96C8CD1043A111DC8D9EC9ECEEDEF2EE/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0


vi 

 

RELIEF SOUGHT AND GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION 

All Defendants move to dismiss Count II with prejudice.  All Defendants Move to 

Dismiss Count III with prejudice.  Defendants Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis and Durham move to 

dismiss Count IV.  Defendants Johnson, Durham, and Carter move to dismiss Count V.  The 

bases for the Defendants’ motion are as follows: 

 Plaintiff has failed to plead an affirmative link between Carter, Durham, Isaacson, 

Johnson, Morris and Reid and a violation of Plaintiff’s First Amendment Rights. 

 Plaintiff has failed to adequately plead a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (§ 1983) conspiracy claim 

against Defendants Johnson, Durham, and Carter. 

 Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity on Plaintiff’s First and Fourteenth 

Amendment Claims. 

o Plaintiff’s procedural due process claim based on allegations that defendants 

provided false testimony to prosecutors fails because the allegedly false 

testimony did not infect Plaintiff’s criminal trial to such an extent as to render 

the process fundamentally unfair. 

o Plaintiff’s procedural due process claim based on allegations that Defendants 

Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis and Durham made false statements impugning 

Plaintiff’s name, reputation, honor or integrity fail. 

 The allegedly false statements attributed to Defendant Beatty were not 

published. 
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 The allegedly false statements attributed to Defendant Christensen 

were spoken to Plaintiff himself, did not impugn his reputation, and 

were not published. 

 The Complaint does not identify false or stigmatizing statements by 

Defendants Durham or Jarvis that were published. 

o Plaintiff’s First Amendment retaliation claims fail the Garcetti/Pickering test. 

o To the extent the Complaint attempts to assert a stand-alone claim based on 

academic freedom, Plaintiff’s First Amendment claim also fails because that 

claim is not based upon a clearly established right. 

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Varlo Davenport formerly worked for Dixie State University (the “University”) 

as a professor of theater arts.  While teaching an Introduction to Acting class on November 21, 

2014, Plaintiff used what the Complaint refers to as “physical resistance and prior experience 

techniques” to get one of the students to overcome “embarrassment and inhibitions” that Plaintiff 

believed were inhibiting that student’s ability to perform the scene well.  The physical resistance 

techniques included another student physically holding the student in her chair, other students 

physically touching her on and around her face, and Plaintiff tugging her hair.  That incident 

ultimately led to termination of Plaintiff’s University employment.  It also resulted in Plaintiff 

being criminally charged for assaulting the student.  Subsequently, a jury acquitted Plaintiff on 

the assault charge.  

On January 10, 2017, Plaintiff filed his pending First Amended Complaint (“Complaint 

or Compl.”).  The Complaint asserts that actions taken by Defendants in connection with 
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termination of his University employment and the criminal prosecution against him violated his 

constitutional rights.  

PRELIMINARY FACTUAL STATEMENT
1
 

The Parties 

1. Plaintiff was previously employed as a tenured professor of theater at the 

University.  Compl. ¶ 6. (Doc. 14). 

2. Defendant Richard "Biff" Williams is the current President of the University.  

Compl. ¶ 8. 

3. Defendant Mark Houser is a professor, the chairperson of the University’s Fine 

Arts Department, and was Plaintiff's immediate supervisor.  Compl. ¶¶ 9 and 47. 

4. Defendant Don Reid is the Director of the University’s Public Safety Department.  

Compl. ¶ 10. 

5. Defendant William Christensen was the Executive Vice President and Chief 

Academic Officer at the University.  Compl. ¶ 11. 

6. Defendant Jeffrey Jarvis is the Dean of the School of Visual and Performing Arts 

at the University.  Compl ¶ 12. 

7. Defendant Del Beatty is the Dean of Students at the University.  Compl. ¶ 13. 

                                                 
1
 This Preliminary Factual Statement (“PFS”) contains factual allegations asserted in Plaintiff’s 

Complaint that are considered true only for purposes of this motion.  By stating them here, 

Defendants do not waive, and specifically preserve, their right to later deny that the evidence 

actually supports those allegations.  This PFS also contains legal conclusions, speculative, and 

conclusory allegations, and portions of Plaintiff’s commentary alleged in the Complaint.  

Although the Court should not consider those statements, allegations, and narrative assertions as 

true for purposes of this motion, they are included in an effort to fully explore the bases for 

Plaintiff’s claims. 
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8. Defendant Paul Morris is the Vice President of Administrative Services at the 

University.  Compl. ¶ 14. 

9. Defendant Steve Johnson was the Director of Media Relations and collegiate 

licensing at the University.  Compl ¶ 15. 

10. Defendant Ron Isaacson is the Assistant Director of the University’s Public 

Safety Department.  Compl. ¶ 16. 

11. Defendant Christina J. Durham is the Chair of the Board of Trustees of the 

University.  Compl. ¶ 17. 

12. Defendant Michael Carter was an Assistant Utah Attorney General assigned to 

represent the University.  Compl. ¶ 18.  

Procedural Background 

13. On January 10, 2017, Plaintiff filed the Complaint currently pending before this 

Court.  (Doc. 14). 

14. The Complaint asserts the following causes of action: 

COUNT I - 14TH AMENDMENT PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS VIOLATION — 

WRONGFUL TERMINATION, PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Asserted against 

Defendants Williams, Reid, Christensen, Houser, Jarvis, and Beatty.) (Compl. ¶¶ 308-

320); 

 

COUNT II – 14TH AMENDMENT PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS VIOLATION — 

SUBJECTION TO CRIMINAL CHARGES BASED ON FABRICATION OF 

EVIDENCE, WITHHOLDING OF FAVORABLE EVIDENCE, FAILURE TO 

ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE WITHOUT A REASONABLE BASIS FOR 

PROBABLE CAUSE AND/OR COERCING TESTIMONY, PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983 (Asserted against Defendants Reid, Isaacson, Beatty, Houser and Williams.) 

(Compl. ¶¶ 321-331);  

 

COUNT III – FIRST AMENDMENT VIOLATION — ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND 

RETALIATION, PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Asserted against all 11 named 

defendants.) (Compl. ¶¶ 332-341); 
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COUNT IV – FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS 

VIOLATION — STIGMA PLUS DOCTRINE, PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(Asserted against Defendants Williams, Reid, Houser, Jarvis, Christensen, Beatty, and 

Durham.) (Compl. ¶¶ 342-350); and 

 

COUNT V - CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE DAVENPORT’S RIGHTS UNDER 42 USC 

§ 1983 (Asserted against all 11 named defendants.) (Compl. ¶¶ 351-356); and 

 

Factual Background 

15. In 2000, the University hired Plaintiff as a professor of theater arts.  Compl. ¶ 21.  

16.  During his tenure at the University, Plaintiff produced, acted in, and directed 

numerous student plays for public audiences at the University.  The plays Plaintiff chose 

routinely included mature subject matter of a sexual nature, use of profanity, and the depiction of 

violence.  Compl. ¶ 42. 

17. During Plaintiff’s tenure at the University, the administration ran the University 

as a parochial school, demanding compliance and instruction consistent with the tenants of the 

Latter-day Saint religious movement.  Compl. ¶ 43. 

18. Plaintiff believed that students needed to experience a far ranging secular 

experience similar to what they would experience upon graduation and entering the job market 

across the nation in a fiercely competitive industry.  Compl. ¶ 44. 

19. In or about 2009, the University hired Defendant Houser as the chairperson of its 

fine arts department.  Houser was Plaintiff’s immediate supervisor and was not tenured.  Compl. 

¶ 47. 

20. Houser professes pious beliefs that profanity, romantic or sexual acts, and acts of 

violence are serious sins which should not be portrayed, in any forum.  Compl. ¶ 48. 
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21. In the spring of 2014, an issue arose between Plaintiff and a fellow University 

professor, KD.  On June 14, 2014, that issue was resolved informally and Plaintiff agreed to not 

direct University theatrical productions for a year.  Compl. ¶ 65. 

22. In August 2014, the University Board of Trustees hired Defendant Williams as 

University President.  Compl. ¶ 63. 

23. In the fall of 2014, Defendant Houser completed his probationary employment 

and became eligible for tenure.  Houser applied for tenure and his application was presented to 

the faculty tenure committee, on which Plaintiff sat.  Compl. ¶ 67. 

24. In October 2014, the committee denied Defendant Houser’s request for tenure.  

Compl. ¶ 68. 

25. After being notified of the tenure committee’s recommendation, Houser stated to 

two University professors that his only chance at maintaining employment in academia would be 

to undermine the credibility of the tenure committee, and specifically Plaintiff, believing that 

Plaintiff had “poisoned” the other committee members against him.  In November 2014, Houser 

indicated to another professor that he was going to "take [Plaintiff] out."  Compl. ¶¶ 70 and 71. 

26. On November 19, 2014, Defendant Houser created a document entitled “Final 

Disciplinary Review and Development Plan” (“the Disciplinary Plan”) where he intended to use 

the issue with KD and information from four students kept in his “secret files” as a basis to 

convince administration to fire Plaintiff, in an attempt to keep his own job.  Compl. ¶ 72. 

27. The Complaint alleges that the Disciplinary Plan document set forth false 

allegations against Plaintiff and falsely stated that he had been given three warnings that his 

behavior must change or it may be necessary to “consider whether [Plaintiff] should be allowed 
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to continue his contract at [the University] or not.”  Compl. ¶ 73.  The Disciplinary Plan was 

signed by Houser on November 25, 2014, with the notation “updated 11/25/2014.”  Compl. ¶ 74. 

The November Classroom Incident 

28. During the fall semester of 2014, Plaintiff taught an afternoon "Theater 1033" or 

“Introduction to Acting” class, which was held on the University campus.  Compl. ¶ 75. 

29. Two of the techniques Plaintiff used to teach University students were to help 

students overcome embarrassment and inhibitions by drawing on prior emotional experiences 

through physical resistance techniques.  Compl. ¶ 77. 

30. CS was an incoming University freshman in August 2014.  She had graduated 

from high school a year early, and was on academic scholarship.  She needed to maintain a high 

grade point average to keep her academic scholarship.  She was one of the students in Plaintiff’s 

afternoon theater 1033 class.  On November 21, 2014, she was 17 years and 11 months old.  

Compl. ¶ 80. 

31. On the afternoon of November 21, 2014, Plaintiff instructed CS to practice a 

scene with her partner.  Compl. ¶ 84. 

32. In order to get CS to overcome her embarrassment and inhibitions, Plaintiff used 

physical resistance and prior experience techniques.  The physical resistance included CS 

pounding on another student’s hands with her fists, a student holding her shoulders in her chair, 

Plaintiff gently tugging on her hair, and students touching her eyelashes and pulling her 

headband.  Compl. ¶ 86. 

33. On November 24, 2014, CS’s mother contacted Houser via telephone and 

reported the November 21, 2014 interaction between Plaintiff and CS.  Compl. ¶ 89. 
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34. On November 25, 2014, Defendant Houser received a statement from the student 

that claimed Plaintiff had assaulted her during the November 21, 2014 theater class.  Compl. ¶ 

95. 

The University Terminates Plaintiff’s Employment 

35. On November 25, 2014, Defendant Beatty informed Defendants Houser and 

Jarvis that he had six years of documented complaints from students regarding Plaintiff.  Plaintiff 

alleges Defendant Beatty’s representation was false because he did not actually have 

documentation of any complaint he had received from a student regarding Plaintiff.  Compl. ¶¶ 

96, 97, and 147.  

36. Subsequently, Defendant Houser drafted a document (“Houser’s Complaint”) that 

included the student’s allegedly false claim of assault, allegedly false statements he attributed to 

other students who were in the November 21, 2014 class, and the following recommendation and 

allegedly false allegations: 

[I]t is the Chairs [sic] recommendation that [Plaintiff’s] contract with [the 

University] Theatre department be terminated entirely, based on the destructive 

nature and trend in his classrooms, the level of unceasing unethical behavior 

toward students and faculty, lack of professionalism and the general sense of 

terror that exists among the students in (and outside of) the department. The 

Theatre department has been losing a steady number of students each year due to 

the atmosphere that is being promoted by the performance faculty in general. 

Progress cannot be made if we are deterring students from our program. 

 

Compl. ¶¶ 101, 103, and 107. 

37. On December 4, 2014, Defendant Houser sent the Houser Complaint and the 

Disciplinary Plan to Defendant Williams.  Compl. ¶ 108. 

38. On December 5, 2014, Defendant Christensen emailed Plaintiff a “notice of 

dismissal” indicating that his employment was being terminated for “serious misconduct that 
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took place in one of your acting classes (THEA 1033-02) on 21 November 2014, involving a 

student.”  Compl. ¶ 125. 

39. On December 8, 2014, Defendant Jarvis drafted and emailed a “Memorandum” 

(“the Jarvis Memorandum”) to Defendant Christensen requesting that Plaintiff be “suspended 

with pay” pending a due process hearing, that the University’s attorney consult Defendant Reid 

about filing criminal charges, and that Plaintiff be fired for the following four reasons: 

“That [Plaintiff] assaulted [ ] (a student) in class, both verbally and physically.” 

  

“That [Plaintiff] engaged in acting exercises intended to ‘explore’ deep emotional states, 

without setting pre-determined safe zones for students.”  

 

“That [Plaintiff], on many occasions, has conducted classes in a manner leading to 

student complaints to Dean of Students Del Beatty.” 

  

“That [Plaintiff], on at least one occasion, has threatened colleagues in theater faculty 

production meetings.” 

 

Compl. ¶ 130. 

 

40. On January 29, 2015, a five-member Faculty Review Board convened to consider 

the reasons for Plaintiff’s termination set out in the Jarvis Memorandum.  Compl. ¶¶ 130 and 

160. 

41. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Faculty Review Board issued written 

findings and recommended that Plaintiff be reinstated.  Compl. ¶ 172. 

42. On February 24, 2015, Defendant Williams rejected the Faculty Review Board’s 

recommendation and terminated Plaintiff’s employment.  Compl. ¶ 187. 

The Criminal Investigation and Prosecution 

43. After Defendant Williams issued his decision, Defendant Durham was cc’d on at 

least two emails from former University students complaining about the process Plaintiff 
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received in connection with termination of his employment and requesting that the termination 

decision be reconsidered.  Compl. ¶¶ 195 and 196. 

44. On March 1, 2015, Plaintiff’s brother-in-law posted a letter on Facebook alleging 

that Defendant Williams terminated Plaintiff without due process.  Compl. ¶ 199. 

45. On March 2, 2015, the Facebook link was provided to every member of the 

University’s Board of Trustees.  Compl. ¶ 200. 

46. On March 3, 2015, Defendant Williams met with Defendants Christensen, Carter, 

Reid, Johnson and others to discuss the pressure being applied by the faculty Senate and the 

difficulty in proving elements of assault.  Compl. ¶ 209. 

47. On the afternoon of March 3, 2015, Plaintiff appeared on a local radio show and 

protested the manner in which he was terminated.  Within 45 minutes, all of the named 

defendants had been given a link to the interview.  Compl. ¶ 209. 

48. On March 3, 2015, Dallas Hyland, a reporter for the Southern Utah Independent 

newspaper, emailed Defendant Johnson and asked for a statement.  Compl. ¶ 209. 

49. On March 3, 2015, a petition with almost 1200 signatures was emailed to 

Defendants Williams,  Durham, Houser, Jarvis, Reid, and others requesting reconsideration of the 

decision to terminate Plaintiff’s employment.  Compl. ¶ 209. 

50. On March 6, 2015, Defendant Reid began working with Defendant Johnson on a 

falsified “news release” for Defendant Williams to provide to the press.  Compl. ¶ 211.q. 

51. On March 24, 2015, Defendant Reid suggested that Defendant Williams contact a 

member of the University’s Board of Trustees to see if they could convince Washington County 

Attorney Brock Belnap to file charges against Plaintiff.   Compl. ¶ 246. 
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52. That same day, March 24, 2015, Defendant Williams contacted the chair of the 

Board of Trustees, Defendant Durham, allegedly provided her with false information regarding 

Plaintiff, and requested that she meet with him and Belnap to try and convince Belnap to file 

criminal charges against Plaintiff.  Defendant Durham agreed to meet.  Compl. ¶ 247. 

53. Later that same day, March 24, 2015, Defendant Williams and Defendant Durham 

met with Belnap and, according to the Complaint, “provided false information about [Plaintiff] 

trying to convince him to file criminal charges against [Plaintiff].”  Compl. ¶ 248. 

54. On March 27, 2015, the Washington County Attorney’s office chose not to file 

criminal charges against Plaintiff and sent the file to the St. George City Attorney’s Office.  

Compl. ¶¶ 251-252. 

55.  On April 21, 2015, St. George City charged Plaintiff with one count of simple 

assault of the drama student.  Compl. ¶ 256. 

56. On May 26, 2015, Plaintiff filed a notice of subpoena in the Justice Court seeking 

a subpoena to Defendant Williams for information from the University’s whistleblower hotline 

and e-mails pertaining to Plaintiff’s termination and the criminal investigation.  Compl. ¶ 257.  

Over the course of the next year Defendants Williams, Reid, and Carter strategized concerning 

President Williams’ response to the subpoena and declined to provide the whistleblower hotline 

information and e-mails.  Compl. ¶¶ 260, 265, and 269-71. 

57. The Complaint alleges that throughout the relevant time period certain Defendants 

provided false information to prosecutors or failed to provide exculpatory evidence to 

prosecutors.  See, e.g. Compl. ¶¶ 211, 220-222, 238, 252, and 254-55.
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58. As the City prosecutor prepared for trial, he was informed of the allegedly 

withheld, coerced, false and misleading information provided to him by certain defendants.  

Compl. ¶ 284. 

59. Plaintiff’s criminal trial was held before a 4-person jury on July 13 and 14, 2016.  

Compl. ¶ 285. 

60. Having been made aware of the allegedly false and misleading evidence provided 

to him by certain defendants, the City prosecutor only called the drama student and one other 

witness, a classmate who testified she did not remember an assault taking place.  Compl. ¶ 286-

288. 

62. The Complaint alleges that Plaintiff called Defendant Reid to the stand and that 

Defendant Reid gave false testimony.  Compl. ¶ 291-92.  

63. On July 14, 2016, the jury found Plaintiff “not guilty” of the assault charge.    

Compl. ¶ 293 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO MEET SECTION 1983 PLEADING 

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE FIRST AMENDMENT AND CONSPIRACY CLAIMS 

AS TO CERTAIN DEFENDANTS  

 

All of Plaintiff’s claims for alleged violation of the Federal Constitution are brought 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the statutory vehicle for suing state actors for violations of the 

Constitution.  Jojola v. Chavez, 55 F.3d 488, 492 (10
th

 Cir. 1995).  Thus, if the claim fails to 

meet Section 1983 requirements, a plaintiff has no other redress for alleged Constitutional 

violations.   

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 17 of 37

https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iabac6ef4918611d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_492
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0


2 

 

A. Plaintiff Has Failed to Allege an Affirmative Link Between Carter, Durham, 

Isaacson, Johnson, Morris, and Reid And Alleged Violation of the First 

Amendment 

 

Count III asserts a claim for First Amendment retaliation against all 11 named 

Defendants.  See Compl. ¶339.  But no allegations affirmatively link Defendants Carter, 

Durham, Isaacson, Johnson, Morris, or Reid to the allegedly unconstitutional conduct giving rise 

to Plaintiff’s First Amendment claims.  Under § 1983, an “affirmative link” between the alleged 

constitutional violation and an individual defendant’s action or inaction must be plead and 

proven.  Gallagher v. Shelton, 587 F.3d 1063, 1069 (10th Cir. 2009).  “Individual liability under 

§ 1983 must be based on personal involvement in the alleged constitutional violation.”  Foote v. 

Spiegel, 118 F.3d 1416, 1423 (10th Cir. 1997).  To allege such a link, a Complaint must identify 

“the specific conduct violating the plaintiff’s rights, the time and the place of that conduct, and 

the identity of the responsible officials.”  Colburn v. Upper Darby Township, 838 F.2d 663, 666 

(3rd Cir. 1987); Dunn v. White, 880 F.2d 1188, 1190 (10th Cir. 1989).   

Here, Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to affirmatively link the alleged First Amendment 

violation and an individual action taken by Defendant Carter, Durham, Isaacson, Johnson, 

Morris, or Reid.  As discussed more fully below, the Tenth Circuit applies a five-prong analysis 

to determine whether action taken against an employee constitutes retaliation in violation of the 

employee’s First Amendment rights.  Couch v. Bd. of Trustees of Mem'l Hosp., 587 F.3d 1223, 

1235 (10th Cir. 2009)  (“When analyzing a free speech claim based on retaliation by an 

employer, this court applies the five-prong Garcetti/Pickering test.”).  “Implicit within this five-

prong analysis ‘is a requirement that the public employer have taken some adverse employment 

action against the employee.’”  Hook v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 394 F. Appx.  522, 534 (10th 
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Cir. 2010) (quoting Couch, 587 F.3d. at 1235–36).  The Complaint does not allege that 

Defendants Carter, Durham, Isaacson, Johnson, Morris, or Reid personally subjected Plaintiff to, 

or even participated in, an adverse employment action against Plaintiff.  Absent allegations 

showing each of these Defendants’ involvement, they must be dismissed.  

B. Plaintiff Has Failed To Meet The Pleading Requirements of a § 1983 Conspiracy 

Claim Against Defendants Johnson, Durham and Carter 

 

Count V of Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges a conspiracy to violate Plaintiff’s constitutional 

rights.  To state a claim for conspiracy under 1983, Plaintiff must allege “both the existence of a 

conspiracy and the deprivation of a constitutional right.”  Thompson v. City of Lawrence, Kan., 

58 F.3d 1511, 1517 (1995).  Because Defendants move for dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), 

the Court should “assume the factual allegations are true and ask whether it is plausible that the 

Plaintiff is entitled to relief.”  Gallagher v. Shelton, 587 F.3d 1063, 1068 (10th Cir. 2009) 

(citation omitted).  A claim must be dismissed if the complaint does not contain enough facts to 

make the claim “plausible on its face.”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 

(2007). 

To properly plead the existence of a conspiracy, the plaintiff “must allege specific facts 

showing an agreement and concerted action amongst the defendants.”  Tonkovich v. Kansas Bd. 

of Regents, 159 F.3d 504, 533 (1998).  “Conclusory allegations of conspiracy are insufficient to 

state a valid § 1983 claim.”  Id. (citations and quotations omitted).  Parallel action is not enough 

to establish a conspiracy.  Bell Atl. Corp., 550 U.S. at 556-557.  Rather, the complaint must plead 

facts indicating a “meeting of the minds” among the alleged conspirators.”  Hunt v. Bennet, 17 

F.3d 1263, 1268 (10th Cir. 1994).  A plaintiff seeking to prove conspiracy need not show that 

each participant knew the “‘exact limits of the illegal plan or the identity of all the participants 
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therein.’”  Snell v. Tunnell, 920 F.2d 673, 702 (10th Cir. 1990) (quoting Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc. 

v. Greenberg, 447 F.2d 872, 875 (7th Cir. 1971)).  The participants however, must share the 

general conspiratorial objective and there must be “a single plan, the essential nature and general 

scope of which” must be known to each person in order to hold them responsible for its 

consequences.  Id. (citations and quotations omitted). 

1. Defendant Johnson 

 

Plaintiff alleges that on March 6, 2015 Defendant Johnson began working with 

Defendant Reid on a false news release for Defendant Williams to release to the press.  Compl. ¶ 

211.q.  Plaintiff fails to plead any facts indicating that Defendant Johnson was aware that the 

press release he worked on with Defendant Reid was false.  Absent the pleading of facts 

suggesting that Defendant Johnson knew the press release was false Plaintiff has not adequately 

pled a meeting of the minds and agreement between Defendant Johnson and Defendants Reid or 

Defendant Williams to distribute false information about Plaintiff.  The allegations of a 

conspiracy between Johnson and Defendants Reid or Defendant Williams are accordingly 

conclusory and fail to state a valid § 1983 conspiracy claim. 

2. Defendant Durham 

 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Durham received numerous e-mails and other 

communications complaining about Plaintiff’s termination and demanding his reinstatement.  

Compl. ¶¶ 194-96, 199-200, and 209.  Plaintiff further alleges that on March 24, 2015 Defendant 

Williams contacted Defendant Durham and provided her with false information regarding 

Plaintiff and asked her to meet with Defendant Williams and Washington County Attorney 

Brock Belnap to convince Belnap to prosecute Plaintiff.  Compl. ¶ 247.  Plaintiff further asserts 
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that a meeting took place between Belnap and Defendants Williams and Durham later that day, 

during which Belnap was provided with false information about Plaintiff in an effort to convince 

Belnap to initiate a prosecution.  Compl. ¶ 248.  Again, Plaintiff fails to allege any facts which 

would suggest that Defendant Durham knew that the information provided to her by Defendant 

Williams was false.  Absent the pleading of facts showing some understanding by Defendant 

Durham that the information Defendant Williams gave her was false, there can be no meeting of 

the minds or agreement between Defendant Durham and Defendant Williams to mislead Belnap.  

Plaintiff accordingly fails to state a § 1983 conspiracy claim against Defendant Durham. 

3. Defendant Carter 

 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Carter obstructed Plaintiff’s efforts to subpoena e-mails 

from DSU.  Compl. ¶¶ 260, 265, 269, and 271.  Plaintiff, however, fails to allege any agreement 

or concerted action by Defendant Carter to publish false statements or stigmatizing statements 

regarding Plaintiff in the course of Plaintiff’s termination, or for the purpose of foreclosing 

future employment opportunities.  Plaintiff’s claim that Defendant Carter conspired to violate his 

rights as alleged in Count IV of the Complaint accordingly fails.  Plaintiff also alleges that Carter 

conspired to violate Plaintiff’s rights as alleged in Counts II and III of the Complaint.  However, 

even assuming that Plaintiff has adequately pleaded an agreement and concerted action by 

Defendant Carter and his co-defendants to suppress the response to Plaintiff’s subpoena, Plaintiff 

has failed to adequately state § 1983 conspiracy claim against Defendant Carter related to Counts 

II and III.  As discussed below, Plaintiff has not stated a claim for violations of his constitutional 

rights in Counts II and III.  Absent a predicate constitutional violation, Plaintiff’s allegations that 

Defendant Carter conspired to violate his rights as alleged in Counts II and III fail. 
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II. DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY ON PLAINTIFF’S 

FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT CLAIMS 

 

All Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity from Plaintiff’s First Amendment 

retaliation claim and Plaintiff’s Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process claims because, 

even accepting the allegations in the complaint as true, Plaintiff fails to state a viable claim under 

either the First or Fourteenth Amendment.  

“Qualified immunity generally shields from liability for civil damages ‘government 

officials performing discretionary functions . . . insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly 

established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.’” 

Gomes v. Wood, 451 F.3d 1122, 1134 (10th Cir. 2006) (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 

800, 818 (1982)).  The Supreme Court has identified three purposes underlying qualified 

immunity.  “First, qualified immunity ‘protect[s] the public from unwarranted timidity on the 

part of public officials.’  Second, [it] helps ‘to ensure that talented candidates are not deterred by 

the threat of damages suits from entering public service.  Third, qualified immunity reduces the 

chance that lawsuits will distract from the performance of public duties.”  Gomes, 451 F.3d at 

1134 (first alteration in original) (quoting Richardson v. McKnight, 521 U.S. 399, 408 (1997)).  

“Once a defendant asserts qualified immunity, the plaintiff bears the burden of satisfying 

a strict two-part test.”  Dodds v. Richardson, 614 F. 3d 1185, 1191 (10th Cir. 2010) (quotations 

omitted).  To defeat qualified immunity, the plaintiff must show both that “under the facts 

alleged by the plaintiff, the government officials violated a constitutional right,” and that “the 

right at issue was ‘clearly established’ at the time of the defendant’s alleged misconduct.”  

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009). 
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Plaintiff’s First and Fourteenth Amendment Claims fail under the first part of the 

qualified immunity test because, even accepting the allegations as true, the Complaint does not 

show that any alleged defendant violated Plaintiff’s First or Fourteenth Amendment rights.  To 

the extent it is based on a stand-alone claim of a right to academic freedom, Plaintiff’s First 

Amendment claim also fails because no clearly established law recognizes academic speech as 

protected by the First Amendment. 

A. Count II - Based on Alleged Violation of Procedural Due Process Fails  

 

Count II of Plaintiff’s Complaint asserts a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s 

Procedural Due Process Clause based on allegations that certain defendants provided false 

information to prosecutors (Compl. ¶ 323) or failed to provide exculpatory evidence to 

prosecutors (Compl. ¶ 324).  (Doc. 14).  But that claim fails because Plaintiff cannot show that 

the process he received—a jury trial in which he was acquitted—was rendered constitutionally 

unfair because of the false or suppressed evidence.   

“Procedural due process does not prevent the state from depriving an individual of liberty 

or property.  It only requires that a fair procedure be provided for the deprivation.”  Doyle v. 

Okla. Bar Ass’n, 998 F.2d 1559, 1569 (10th Cir. 1993) (emphasis added).  See also Zinermon v. 

Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990) (“The Due Process Clause also encompasses ... a guarantee of 

fair procedure.”).  Thus the Tenth Circuit has recognized that false testimony may so infect a 

proceeding that it violates procedural due process.  P.J. ex rel. Jensen v. Wagner, 603 F.3d 1182, 

1200 (2010).  But here, where Plaintiff was acquitted of the misdemeanor assault charge by a 

jury, he cannot claim the defective evidence rendered the process fundamentally unfair.  Cf. 
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United States v. Vaziri, 164 F.3d 556, 563 (10th Cir. 1999) (procedural due process may be 

violated if criminal defendant is convicted based on perjured testimony).  

In fact, Plaintiff admits that the prosecutor did not use any of the improper evidence: “As 

[the prosecutor] prepared for trial, he was informed of the withheld, coerced, false and 

misleading information” that defendants allegedly provided.  Compl. ¶ 284.  (Doc. 14).  Plaintiff 

also admits that the prosecutor then decided to only call the drama student who claimed to have 

been assaulted by Plaintiff, and one other witness, a classmate who testified she did not 

remember an assault taking place.  Compl. ¶ 286-288.  Plaintiff’s own allegations show the 

allegedly false information never was introduced at trial and that the prosecutor was aware of the 

suppressed information before trial began.  The only false evidence that Plaintiff alleges was 

presented at trial came in when Plaintiff himself called Reid, who Plaintiff claims “falsely 

testified.” Compl. ¶ 291-92.  Obviously that testimony either had no impact on the jury’s 

decision, or they did not believe the testimony, since the jury acquitted Plaintiff. 

Because the evidence Plaintiff complains of did not render Plaintiff’s trial unfair, his 

Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process claim fails as a matter of law.  The Court should 

therefore dismiss the claim with prejudice. 

B. Plaintiff’s Allegations Do Not State A Liberty Interest Claim Against Defendants 

Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis, or Durham 

 

 Count IV asserts a Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process claim that certain 

defendants violated Plaintiff’s liberty interest as it affected his interest in continued employment 

by making false statements that impugned his good name, reputation, honor, or integrity.  

Compl. ¶¶ 342-350.  (Doc. 14).  For the reasons set forth below, the liberty interest claim should 

be dismissed as asserted against Defendants Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis, and Durham. 

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 24 of 37

https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia0a84501947f11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_563
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18313858157
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18313858157


9 

 

 “Under the Due Process Clause, public employees have a liberty interest in their 

reputations, but only in the context of their employment.”  Coleman v. Utah State Charter School 

Bd., __ Fed. Appx. __, 2016 WL 7321198, *5 (citing Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693,701, 706 

(1976) and McDonald v. Wise, 769 F.3d 1202, 1212 (10th Cir. 2014)).  To succeed on such a 

claim, a plaintiff must satisfy a four-part test to establish a liberty interest sufficient to trigger 

due process protections: 

First, to be actionable, the statements must impugn the good name, reputation, 

honor, or integrity of the employee.  Second, the statements must be false.  Third, 

the statements  must occur in the course of terminating the employee or must 

foreclose other employment opportunities.
2
  And fourth, the statements must be 

published. These elements are not disjunctive, all must be satisfied to demonstrate 

deprivation of the liberty interest. 

 

Evers v. Regents of Univ. of Colo., 509 F.3d 1304, 1308 (10th Cir. 2007) (quoting Workman v. 

Jordan, 32 F.3d 475, 481 (10th Cir.1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1015 (1995)).  If an employee 

establishes a liberty interest deprivation, then that employee is entitled to a name-clearing 

hearing following the stigmatizing statements to challenge the reasons provided for his 

discharge.  Workman, 32 F.3d at 480. 

“[T]o be actionable, the statements must impugn the good name, reputation, honor, or 

integrity of the employee.”  Evers, 509 F.3d at 1308.  Statements are not stigmatizing if they do 

not make allegations of “dishonesty or immorality that might seriously damage an employee’s 

standing . . . in the community.”  Melton v. City of Oklahoma, 928 F.2d 920, 927–28 (10th Cir. 

1991).  Even public statements regarding an employee’s “mismanagement” of money are 

                                                 
2
 As to this third element, the Tenth Circuit has determined that, despite the use of the word “or,” 

to establish this element, a Plaintiff must show that the at-issue statements were made in the 

course of termination and that they foreclosed other employment opportunities.  Renaud v. Wyo. 

Dep't of Family Servs., 203 F.3d 723, 728 n. 1 (10th Cir. 2000).   
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distinguishable from statements regarding an employee’s “stealing” money and are insufficient 

to meet the first element of the test.  See Russillo v. Scarborough, 935 F.2d 1167, 1172 (10th Cir. 

1991) (no claim where article “may have implied” that the plaintiff “was fired for 

mismanagement but did not suggest he actually stole the money”).  Whether a statement is 

stigmatizing is a question for the court.  Melton, 928 F.2d at 927.  Statements are not 

stigmatizing if they do not make allegations of “dishonesty or immorality that might seriously 

damage an employee’s standing . . . in the community.”  Melton, 928 F.2d at 927; see also 

Russillo, 935 F.2d at 1172. 

To succeed on a liberty interest claim, a plaintiff must also establish that the allegedly 

false and stigmatizing statements were voluntarily published by one of the defendants.  

Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 547 n.13 (1985) (“[F]ailure to allege that the 

reasons for the dismissal were published dooms this claim.”).  “Publication,” in the context of a 

liberty interest claim, is accorded its ordinary meaning of “to be made public.” Bishop v. Wood, 

426 U.S. 341, 348 (1976) (“Unpublicized accusations do not infringe constitutional liberty 

interests because, by definition, they cannot harm ‘good name, reputation, honor, or integrity.’”).  

“To prove that statements were published, a plaintiff must prove more than mere sharing with 

other persons.  For instance, internal governmental sharing of information is not publishing.”  

Coleman, 2016 WL 7321198, *5 (citing Asbill v. Housing Authority of the Choctaw Nation of 

Oklahoma, 726 F.2d 1499, 1503 (1984)).   

As set out below, the Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to state a plausible liberty 

interest claim against Defendants Beatty, Christensen, Jarvis, or Durham, and Count IV should 

be dismissed as to these defendants. 

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 26 of 37

https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib3cf4c9294bc11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_1172
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib3cf4c9294bc11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_1172
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iebcc33c7968711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_927
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Iebcc33c7968711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_927
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib3cf4c9294bc11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_1172
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Id4c3d9d09c1d11d991d0cc6b54f12d4d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_780_547+n.13
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1791a3559c1f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_780_348
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I1791a3559c1f11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_780_348
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ia716f5d0c40111e6ac07a76176915fee/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_999_5
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ic6c3463f944911d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_1503
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ic6c3463f944911d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_350_1503


11 

 

1. Defendant Beatty 

 

With respect to Defendant Beatty, the Complaint alleges that: 

On November 25, 2014, Defendant Beatty told Plaintiff’s supervisors, Houser and Jarvis, 

that he  had six years of documented complaints from students against Plaintiff.  Compl. 

96 and 97; and 

 

On March 18, 2015, Beatty falsely told President Williams “that in the past six and half 

years, on two or three occasions students had been bullied by Davenport, and that 

Davenport’s reputation on campus was that of a bully.”  Comp. ¶¶ 236-237. (Doc. 14). 

 

Those allegations are insufficient to state a plausible liberty interest claim against Defendant 

Beatty because the false statements attributed to him were not published.  Custodio v. Parker, 65 

F.3d 178, 1995 WL 523123, *4 (10th Cir.1995) (false statement to plaintiff's superiors was intra-

government dissemination and not publication). 

2. Defendant Christensen 

 

The only false statement Defendant Christensen is alleged to have made was to Plaintiff 

himself.  In paragraph 159, the Complaint alleges that Christensen’s representation to Plaintiff 

that “prior grievances” would not be used as an independent basis to discipline Plaintiff was 

false.  Compl. ¶ 159.  That allegation is insufficient because it did not impugn Plaintiff’s 

reputation and was not published. 

3. Defendant Durham 

 

The Complaint makes the conclusory statement that Defendant Durham “made numerous 

defamatory statements impugning Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor, or integrity as 

alleged herein.”  Compl. ¶ 344.  But, the Complaint does not actually identify a single statement 

allegedly made by Defendant Durham.  In fact, only one paragraph even hints at the possibility 

that Defendant Durham might have said something about Plaintiff.  Paragraph 248 states that: 
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In the late afternoon/early evening of March 24, 2015, Williams and Durham met 

with Belnap and provided false information about [Plaintiff trying to convince 

him to file criminal charges against [Plaintiff]. Belnap informed the two that he 

was going to wait and see what the recommendations were from Jaeger and 

Golding. 

 

That paragraph does not identify any specific allegedly false or stigmatizing statement made by 

Defendant Durham that was published.  The allegations fail to state what statement Defendant 

Durham made, if any, and how it was false.  Moreover, even if Defendant Durham made a false 

statement to Belnap, such communication would not constitute publication because it was shared 

only between governmental entities.  See McCarty v. City of Bartlesville, 8 Fed. Appx. 867, 874, 

2001 WL 246196, *5 (10th Cir. 2001) (discussion of case with district attorney was intra-

governmental dissemination and not publication).  Accordingly, the Complaint fails to state a 

claim against Defendant Durham upon which this Court may grant relief. 

4. Defendant Jarvis 

 

The liberty interest claim should also be dismissed as asserted against Defendant Jarvis 

because the Complaint does not allege any facts from which one could reasonably infer that 

Defendant Jarvis made and published a false statement that impugned Plaintiff’s good name and 

reputation.  The only statements Defendant Jarvis is alleged to have made were to the Faculty 

Review Board that considered Plaintiff’s grievance.  As explained above, such intra-

governmental dissemination is not publication. 

C. Plaintiff’s Allegations Do Not State a Claim for First Amendment Retaliation  

 

Count III asserts that each of the named defendants took an action that violated Plaintiff’s 

First Amendment rights.  Compl.  ¶ 339.  It is not entirely clear but, a liberal reading of Count III 

indicates that Plaintiff is attempting to assert claims based upon: 
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(1) violation of his alleged right to “employ the teaching methodology and 

pedagogy that he did, including instructing students in the use of physical 

resistance” and/or “to produce, direct and act in plays of a secular nature, 

including mature topics . . .”  Compl. ¶ 333; and 

 

(2) retaliation for exercising his alleged right to “employ the teaching 

methodology and pedagogy that he did, including instructing students in the use 

of physical resistance” and/or “to produce, direct and act in plays of a secular 

nature, including mature topics . . .”  Compl. ¶¶ 333, 336, and 338.  

 

Thus, Count III appears to be based upon the assertion that state actors may not “condition public 

employment on a basis that infringes the employee's constitutionally protected interest in 

freedom of expression,” Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 142 (1983), and “cannot retaliate 

against an employee for exercising his constitutionally protected right of free speech.”  Dill v. 

City of Edmond, 155 F.3d 1193, 1201 (10th Cir.1998). 

The Complaint asserts that the speech or expression that resulted in the alleged retaliation 

was as follows:  

(1) during his tenure as a theater professor at the University, Plaintiff produced, 

acted in, and directed student plays that included subject matter of a sexual nature, 

use of profanity, and the depiction of violence for public audiences.  Compl. ¶ 42; 

and  

 

(2) to teach students how to act, Plaintiff used teaching techniques designed to 

help students overcome embarrassment and inhibitions by drawing on prior 

emotional experiences through physical resistance techniques.  Compl. ¶ 77.   

 

See Compl. ¶ 333.  (Doc. 14).  As asserted against all defendants, Count III should be dismissed  

because, even assuming all well pleaded factual allegations are true, Plaintiff fails to state 

cognizable claims under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

1. The Complaint’s Allegations Fail the Garcetti/Pickering Test 

 

Whether particular speech is protected depends on the nature of the expression and the 

speaker's relationship to the government.  For example, a private citizen’s speech generally 
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enjoys broader protections than public employees’ or public contractors’ speech.  See Bd. of 

Comm'rs, Wabaunsee Cty. v. Umbehr, 518 U.S. 668, 673 (1996) (public contractor); Garcetti v. 

Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410, 417 (2006) (public employee); Worrell v. Henry, 219 F.3d 1197 (10th 

Cir. 2000) (private citizen). 

With respect to public employees, “the First Amendment protects a public employee's 

right, in certain circumstances, to speak as a citizen addressing matters of public concern.” 

Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. at 417; see also Pickering v. Bd. of Educ., 391 U.S. 563, 568 

(1968).  Therefore, “a public employer cannot retaliate against an employee for exercising his 

constitutionally protected right of free speech.”  Dill, 155 F.3d at 1201 (citing Connick, 461 U.S. 

at 146–47 (1983)). 

The Tenth Circuit applies the five-prong Garcetti/Pickering test to determine whether an 

employer has unconstitutionally retaliated against an employee.  Couch v. Bd. of Trustees of 

Mem'l Hosp., 587 F.3d 1223, 1235 (10th Cir. 2009); Dixon v. Kirkpatrick, 553 F.3d 1294, 1301–

02 (10th Cir. 2009).  Under that analysis, the Court must first determine whether the Plaintiff’s 

speech was made pursuant to his official duties.  Lauck v. Campbell Cty, 627 F.3d 805, 814 (10th 

Cir. 2010).  If the Plaintiff spoke pursuant to his official duties, then there is no constitutional 

protection.  Id.  If the speech was not pursuant to Plaintiff’s official duties, then the Court 

proceeds to the second step “which requires it to determine whether the subject of the speech is a 

matter of public concern.  If the speech is not a matter of public concern, then the speech is 

unprotected and the inquiry ends.”  Id. (quotations omitted).  “If, however, the speech is on a 

matter of public concern, the court proceeds to the third step,” where it determines whether the 

plaintiff’s interest in commenting on the issue outweighs the interest of the government-
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employer.  Id.  “[A]ssuming the employee’s interest outweighs that of the employer, the 

employee must show that his speech was a substantial factor or a motivating factor in a 

detrimental employment decision.  Finally, if the employee establishes that his speech was such a 

factor, the employer may demonstrate that it would have taken the same action against the 

employee even in the absence of the protected speech.”  Couch, 587 F.3d at 1235 (quotations 

omitted).  “The first three “prongs” are said to be issues of law to be decided by the court; the 

last two are factual issues to be decided by the factfinder.”  Dixon, 553 F.3d at 1302. 

“Implicit within this five-prong analysis ‘is a requirement that the public employer have 

taken some adverse employment action against the employee.’”  Hook v. Regents of Univ. of 

Cal., 394 F. Appx.  522, 534 (10th Cir. 2010) (quoting Couch, 587 F.3d. at 1235–36).  “If the 

action taken by the employer in response to the employee's speech is inconsequential or has only 

speculative consequences, there can be no basis for a First Amendment claim.”  Id. 

a. Plaintiff’s conduct occurred as part of his official duties. 

 

Plaintiff’s retaliation claim fails the first step of the Garcetti-Pickering test because the 

allegations of the Complaint establish that the conduct at issue occurred as part of his duties as a 

University professor.  See Lauck, 627 F.3d at 815 (citing Garcetti, 547 U.S. at 421).  The Tenth 

Circuit takes a “broad” view of the meaning of speech that is “pursuant” to an employee's 

“official duties.”  Thomas v. City of Blanchard, 548 F.3d 1317, 1324 (10th Cir. 2008).  See also 

Rohrbough v. University of Colo. Hosp. Auth., 596 F.3d 741, 746 (10th Cir. 2010).  The analysis   

focuses on whether the particular “speech activity stemmed from and was of the type that the 

employee was paid to do.”  Rohrbough., 596 F.3d at 746 (citing  Green v. Board of County 

Comm'rs, 472 F.3d 794, 799 (10th Cir. 2007)). 
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Here, the Complaint’s own allegations establish that Plaintiff engaged in the activity at 

issue here pursuant to his official duties, so the First Amendment does not protect them.  Plaintiff 

asserts that, as a tenured professor, the First Amendment provided him with a free 

speech/freedom of expression right to employ his chosen teaching methodology and pedagogy.  

Compl. ¶ 333.  The Complaint alleges that the University hired Plaintiff to be “a professor of 

theater arts.”  Compl. ¶ 21.  Plaintiff’s First Amendment claim is based on the following activity: 

(1) during his tenure as a theater professor at the University, Plaintiff produced, acted in, 

and directed student plays that included matter subject matter of a sexual nature, use of 

profanity, and the depiction of violence for public audiences.  Compl. ¶ 42; and  

 

(2) to teach students how to act, Plaintiff used teaching techniques designed to help 

students overcome embarrassment and inhibitions by drawing on prior emotional 

experiences through physical resistance techniques.  Compl. ¶ 77.   

 

Those factual allegations themselves establish that Plaintiff’s allegedly protected speech or 

activity was made in the course of his official duties. 

b. Plaintiff’s conduct was not a matter of public concern 

 

Plaintiff’s claim also fails because the conduct he allegedly engaged in did not regard a 

matter of public concern.  “Whether an employee’s speech addresses a matter of public concern 

must be determined by the content, form, and context of a given statement, as revealed by the 

whole record.”  Connick, 461 U.S. at 147-48.  “The inquiry into the protected status of speech is 

one of law, not fact.”  Id. at 149, n.7.  Neither of the two activities upon which Plaintiff attempts 

to base his First Amendment claim present matters of public concern.   

The Complaint asserts that Plaintiff’s teaching method was a matter of public concern “as 

the students needed to experience the methodology engaged in acting and to explore a far 

ranging secular experience as they would encounter upon graduation and entering the job market 
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in a fiercely competitive industry, not the singular parochial approach [the University] 

demanded.”  Comp. ¶ 334.  (Doc. 14).  But, Plaintiff’s chosen teaching methods are not related 

“to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community.”  Connick, 461 U.S. at 

146.  Nor did they address “a subject of general interest and of value and concern to the public.”  

Id. (quoting San Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 77, 83–84 (2004)).  Plaintiff’s teaching methods did not 

“directly affect the public at large” and, thus, are not matters of public concern.  Bunger v. Univ. 

of Oklahoma Bd. of Regents, 95 F.3d 987, 992 (10th Cir. 1996).  

Plaintiff’s claim also fails because conduct is protected by the First Amendment only 

when it is expressive or communicative in nature.  Plaintiff’s conduct in utilizing resistance 

teaching techniques cannot be considered expressive or communicative.   

The United States Supreme Court has made clear that First Amendment protection does 

not apply to conduct that is not “inherently expressive.”  Rumsfeld v. Forum for Academic & 

Institutional Rights, Inc. (“FAIR II”), 547 U.S. 47, 66 (2006).  To constitute expressive conduct 

protected by the First Amendment, an act must be made with “an intent to convey a 

particularized message” and “whether the likelihood was great that the message would be 

understood by those who viewed it.”  Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 404 (1989) (quotations 

and interlineations omitted).  Examples of conduct the Supreme Court has found to be 

“inherently expressive” include students' wearing of black armbands to protest American 

military involvement in Vietnam, a sit-in by blacks in a “whites only” area to protest segregation, 

the wearing of American military uniforms in a dramatic presentation criticizing American 

involvement in Vietnam; and picketing about a wide variety of causes.  Id.  (citations omitted).  
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The conduct upon which Plaintiff attempts to base his First Amendment claim is not remotely 

similar in nature.   

For these reasons, Plaintiff fails to satisfy the second step of the Garcetti-Pickering 

analysis. 

c. No substantial or motivating factor in adverse employment action. 

 

The Complaint fails to allege facts from which one could reasonably infer that Plaintiff’s 

penchant towards producing and directing student plays with mature content was a substantial or 

motivating factor for terminating his employment.  In fact, the Complaint itself alleges that 

Plaintiff had not directed, produced, or acted in a University student play for at least 6 months 

before his termination.  Compl. ¶ 337.  (Doc. 14). 

Moreover, the Complaint alleges that Defendants Beatty, Houser, Jarvis, Christensen, and 

Williams were involved in the effort to terminate Plaintiff’s employment.  But the Complaint 

does not factually link Plaintiff’s termination to his involvement in student plays.  Quite to the 

contrary, the Complaint asserts that Defendant Houser’s effort to get Plaintiff fired was 

motivated by his desire to “keep his own job.”  Compl. ¶¶ 67-72.  The Complaint also asserts 

that the decision to terminate Plaintiff’s employment was based on false claims that numerous 

students had complained about Plaintiff over the years, Plaintiff’s interaction with CS during 

theater class, and concerns about actions CS and her parents might take against the University.  

Compl. ¶¶ 110, 121, 125, 126, and 130.   

Finally, the Complaint alleges that Defendant Williams made the final decision to 

terminate Plaintiff’s employment.  The Complaint does not contain a single allegation from 

which one might reasonably infer that Defendant Williams’ decision was motivated in whole or 

Case 2:17-cv-00015-CW-DBP   Document 44   Filed 03/06/17   Page 34 of 37

https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18313858157


19 

 

in part by a desire to retaliate against Plaintiff for producing and directing student plays with 

mature content.  Thus, Plaintiff’s First Amendment claim is also subject to dismissal to the 

extent it is based upon that allegedly protected activity. 

2. Academic Freedom  

 

To the extent Count III is based upon an alleged First Amendment right to academic 

freedom, it should also be dismissed.  Plaintiff appears to assert that his decision to employ the 

teaching methodology and pedagogy that he did was protected by the First Amendment solely 

because he had a right to academic freedom.  But, “an independent right to academic freedom 

does not arise under the First Amendment without reference to the attendant right of free 

expression.  Thus, the right to academic freedom is not cognizable without a protected free 

speech or associational right.”  Schrier v. Univ. Of Co., 427 F.3d 1253, 1266 (10th Cir. 2005).  

The Tenth Circuit has rejected the argument “that professors possess a special constitutional 

right of academic freedom not enjoyed by other governmental employees” and declined “to 

construe the First Amendment in a manner that would promote such inequality among similarly 

situated citizens.”  Id. 

Plaintiff can point to no clearly established law establishing that a professor can sue his 

employer for taking actions that allegedly violated his right to academic freedom.  In fact, the 

trend in the law is to the contrary.  Most federal courts that have considered the issue found that 

the right to academic freedom is held by the employing academic institution, not the professor, 

and have declined opportunities to expand the right in reviewing disputes about a faculty 

member’s classroom speech or teaching activity.  See, e.g., , Borden v. Sch. Dist. of Twp. of E. 

Brunswick, 523 F.3d 153, 172 n.14 (3d Cir. 2008) (“[I]t is the educational institution that has a 
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right to academic freedom, not the individual teacher.”); Johnson-Kurek v. Abu-Absi, 423 F.3d 

590, 594 (6th Cir. 2005) (“[T]o the extent the Constitution recognizes any right of ‘academic 

freedom’ above and beyond the First Amendment rights to which every citizen is entitled, the 

right inheres in the University, not in individual professors.”) (quoting Urofsky v. Gilmore, 216 

F.3d 401 (4th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1070 (2001)); Bishop v. Aronov, 926 F.2d 1066, 

1075 (11th Cir. 1991) (“Though we are mindful of the invaluable role academic freedom plays in 

our public schools, particularly at the post-secondary level, we do not find support to conclude 

that academic freedom is an independent First Amendment right.  And, in any event, we cannot 

supplant our discretion for that of the University”).  See also Sweezy v. New Hampshire, 354 

U.S. 234 (1957) (issues related to a university’s curriculum should be decided in the context of 

the “four essential freedoms” a university is free “‘to determine for itself on academic grounds 

who may teach, what may be taught, how it shall be taught, and who may be admitted to study.’”  

Id. at 263 (Frankfurter, J., concurring) (quoting statement from senior scholars’ conference of the 

University of Cape Town and the University of the Witwatersrand) (emphasis added). 

Because there is no stand-alone claim allowing a university professor to sue the 

employing institution for an alleged violation of his academic freedom, that portion of Plaintiff’s 

claim should also be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Defendants’ motion should be granted. 
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Dated this 6th day of March, 2017. 

  

SEAN D. REYES 

Utah Attorney General 

 

/s/ Rebecca S. Parr    

REBECCA S. PARR 

DARIN B. GOFF 

Assistant Utah Attorneys General 

Attorneys for Defendants 
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